

E-Cigarette Social Sources: Theory, Evidence and Regulatory Policy

Emily Taylor Shawn O'Connor Robert Schwartz



Table of Contents

Executive Summary	1
Introduction	5
Literature Review	6
E-Cigarette Social Sources	6
Tobacco Social Sources	8
Alcohol Social Sources	13
Cannabis Social Sources	14
Jurisdictional Scan	15
Canadian Federal Regulations to Reduce Social Sources	15
Canadian Provincial Regulations to Reduce Social Sources	15
U.S. Regulations to Reduce Social Sources	17
E-Cigarette Social Sources Assessment Criteria	18
Campaign to Address Social Sources	18
Fines for Youth Who Supply to Peers	19
Discussion	
References	22
List of Tables	
Table 1. Canadian Provincial and Territorial Social Sources Regulations	16

Executive Summary

Literature Review

E-Cigarette Social Sources

- Most underage Canadian youth are accessing their vaping products from social sources.
- Similarly, studies have shown that most youth in the U.S. and England access vaping products primarily through social sources.
- Interventions to address social sources of e-cigarettes are under-developed.
- Health Canada's recent reports on additional regulations under consideration did not include measures specifically targeted at social sources.

Conventional Tobacco Social Sources

Importance of Social Sources

- There is strong evidence from conventional tobacco that social sources are an important factor in youth initiation and progressing from experimentation to addiction.
- As youth consumption increases, social sources remain important, along with commercial sources, to maintain a steady supply.

Who Is Supplying Youth, and How Are They Accessing Tobacco?

- Youth exhibit reciprocity in their exchange of cigarettes; daily smokers are more likely to supply cigarettes to other youths.
- Adolescents that provide cigarettes to peers primarily purchase cigarettes from retailers, and social sources are used to expand the reach.
- Commercial sources are important to older youth (e.g., 12th grade); whereas, most younger youth obtain their cigarettes via social sources.
- Youth living in jurisdictions with restrictive retail laws were more likely to develop complex systems for obtaining cigarettes including asking strangers to purchase cigarettes and scavenging cigarette butts off the ground.

What Are the Potential Measures for Reducing Social Sources of Conventional Tobacco?

- Measures that cut off youth access to retail sales, such as increasing the minimum age and increasing compliance and enforcement measures, are likely to reduce the overall supply available for exchange and distribution via social sources.
- There is some evidence for both media campaigns to reduce social sources and fines for youth who supply to other youth.
- Experts suggest the need for research to develop evidence-based interventions to address social sources. Specific suggestions include interventions to address teen-to-teen exchange, reducing social environments for exchange, interventions focusing on youth that are heavy smokers, and school-based interventions.

Alcohol Social Sources

 Youth are more likely to access alcohol from adults over the age of 21 than from other teens.

Interventions to reduce social supply of alcohol to youth include: police enforcement of underage drinking at parties, requiring kegs to be registered, social host laws to allow third parties to sue social providers in the case of death or injury, and community interventions to provide alcohol free events for youth. Little research has been done to test the effectiveness of these approaches.

Several community wide initiatives have included interventions to reduce social sources of alcohol.

Cannabis Social Sources

Little is known about the importance of social sources in youth access to cannabis;
 however, in-person dealers play an important role in youth access. We are not aware of any evidence about interventions to address social sources of cannabis.

Jurisdictional Scan

Canadian Federal Regulations

- There are no federal policies in place aimed specifically at reducing social sources of ecigarettes.
- Health Canada's report on potential regulatory measures acknowledges the issues of social sources but does not put forward potential solutions.

Canadian Provincial Regulations

- Some provinces have laws in place to restrict adults from providing e-cigarettes to youth (Ontario, Newfoundland and Labrador, Nunavut, Prince Edward Island, Quebec and Yukon).
- Only Quebec has fines for both adults and youth who provide e-cigarettes to underage youth.

U.S. Federal Regulations to Reduce Social Sources

- No regulations to reduce social sources in the U.S. were found.
- Findings from conventional tobacco suggest that increasing the minimum age and ramping up enforcement measures may decrease the overall social supply available to youth.
- Other interventions that have been used to reduce social supply of conventional tobacco include campaigns and fines for youth who supply to peers, which are examined in more depth below.

Campaign to Reduce E-Cigarette Social Sources

- Effects: There is limited evidence that media campaigns are effective in increasing awareness and changing behavioural intentions to share cigarettes among youth (Zhang et al., 2015).
- Technical Feasibility: Campaigns to address social supply of e-cigarettes are feasible and could build on successful campaigns from conventional tobacco including the Bad Ways

- to be Nice campaign.
- Political Viability: There is likely to be strong political support for campaigns to reduce social sources of e-cigarettes.
- Alignment with International Trade Obligations: There are no known obligations that would interfere with a campaign to reduce social sources of e-cigarettes.

Fines for Youth Who Supply to Peers

- Effects: There is no evidence that fining youth who supply e-cigarettes to peer will reduce youth access. Findings from conventional tobacco show that penalties for youth who supply to peers may be counterproductive by undermining more appropriate and effective methods of youth discipline and may divert attention away from retailers and the tobacco industry (Campaign for Tobacco Free Kids, 2020).
- Technical Feasibility: Quebec has fines for youth who supply tobacco to peers, indicating that this approach is technically feasible.
- Political Viability: While Canadians perceive that vaping is harmful and are worried about the number of kids vaping (Angus Reid, 2020), there is no evidence that there would be strong support for measures that penalize youth. As with youth possession laws, it is unlikely that the public health community in Canada would support this approach.
- Alignment with International Trade Obligations: There are no known obligations that would interfere with fines for youth who supply to peers.

Introduction

It is unlikely that a single intervention can eliminate most youth vaping (Braak et al., 2020). Because youth are accessing e-cigarettes in a variety of ways—including from social sources, brick and mortar stores and online retail establishments—a multi-pronged regulatory approach to reduce youth access is required (Baker et al., 2019; Braak, 2020). This report explores the extent to which interventions to address social sources of e-cigarettes are likely to be an important variable.

This report explores the evidence on interventions to address social sources of e-cigarettes, as well as other related substances including tobacco, alcohol, and cannabis. The paper also includes a jurisdictional scan of Canadian, U.S, as well as other notable regulations on social sources from outside of North America. Finally, the paper summarizes the potential effects, technical feasibility, political viability, and alignment with the Canadian policy landscape.

Literature Review

E-Cigarette Social Sources

- Most underage Canadian youth are accessing their vaping products from social sources.
- Similarly, studies have shown that most youth in the U.S. and England are accessing vaping products primarily through social sources.
- Interventions to address social sources of e-cigarettes are under-developed.
- Health Canada's recent reports on additional regulations under consideration did not include measures specifically targeted at social sources.

E-Cigarette Youth Social Sources

From the 2017 ITC Tobacco and Vaping Survey, Braak et al. (2020) surveyed over 12,000 adolescents aged 16-19 in Canada, the U.S. and England to understand sources of vaping products. Among those who had vaped in the last 30 days, most reported getting their vaping products only from social sources (42.5%), 41.4% accessed e-cigarettes only from commercial sources, and 13.4% from both types of sources (Braak et al., 2020).

E-Cigarette Canadian Youth Social Sources

Findings from the International Tobacco Control Youth Tobacco and Vaping Survey found that among underage Canadian respondents who vaped in the past 30 days, over 70% obtained vaping products from social sources (Braak et al., 2020¹). Similarly, past year vapers who reported obtain e-cigarettes from social sources in Ontario, the majority of students (65%) reported obtaining e-cigarettes from social sources such as buying off a friend or someone else, giving money to someone else to buy, and trying or borrowing from a friend (Public Health Ontario, 2018). A much lower percentage of past-year vapers under the age of 19 bought e-cigarettes from a retail source (9%) or vape shop/internet (10%) (Public Health Ontario, 2018). In

¹ Supplemental Table in Braak et al, 2020

exploratory interviews conducted in Ontario, youth reported that they were able to access e-cigarettes from stores willing to sell to minors (e.g., gas stations), from vape shops that don't ask for ID, and from older friends (Borland et al., 2017). Youth perceived that even if commercial sources were cut off, they would still be able to access from an older friend or sibling or buy a used device (Borland et al., 2017). Youth reported that it is easy to navigate exchanges by texting someone, seeing ads on snapchat from another youth selling a device (Borland et al., 2017).

E-Cigarette U.S. Youth Social Sources

Several U.S. reports have also shown that youth are mainly accessing e-cigarettes from social sources (Kong et al., 2017; Meyers et al., 2017; Pepper et al., 2019). A survey of 9,865 adolescents aged 13-17 years in the United States found that 79.6% of those who had used JUUL in the last 30 days obtained the device from a social source (e.g., "someone bought for me", "someone offered to me"), whereas only 20% bought JUUL products for themselves (McKeganey et al., 2019).

Proposed Regulations

While it is well known that youth are accessing e-cigarettes via social sources, interventions to address this problem are under-developed beyond arguments for raising the minimum age. Some experts suggest that reducing youth access to JUUL products will require greater focus on measures that deter or penalize legal-age purchasers who give or sell products to minors (McKeganey et al., 2019). The effectiveness of such penalties in reducing youth access to e-cigarettes warrants further study. Health Canada's recent reports on additional regulations under consideration did not include measures specifically targeted at social sources.

Importance of Social Sources

- There is strong evidence from conventional tobacco that social sources are important factors in youth initiation and progressing from experimentation to addiction.
- As youth consumption increases, social sources remain important, along with commercial sources, to maintain a steady supply.

Tobacco Social Sources

Who Is Supplying Youth, and How Are They Accessing Tobacco?

- Youth exhibit reciprocity in their exchange of cigarettes; daily smokers are more likely to supply cigarettes to other youths.
- Adolescents that provide cigarettes to peers primarily purchase cigarettes from retailers, and social sources are used to expand the reach.
- Commercial sources are important to older youth (e.g., 12th grade), whereas most younger youth obtain their cigarettes via social sources.
- Youth living in jurisdictions with restrictive retail laws were more likely to develop complex systems for obtaining cigarettes including asking strangers to purchase cigarettes and scavenging cigarettes off the ground.

What Are the Potential Measures for Reducing Social Sources of Conventional Tobacco?

- Measures that cut off youth access to retail sales, such as increasing the minimum age and increasing compliance and enforcement measures, are likely to reduce social sources.
- There is also limited evidence for both media campaigns to reduce social sources and fines for youth who supply to other youth.
- Experts suggest the need for further innovation and research on new interventions
 to address social sources. Specific suggestions include interventions to address
 teen-to-teen exchange, reducing social environments for exchange, and
 interventions focusing on youth that are heavy smokers, and school-based
 interventions.

Importance of Social Sources

Like e-cigarettes, studies show that most underage youth obtain conventional cigarettes from social sources (Ma et al., 2003; Katzman et al., 2007). Importantly, many youths get their first introduction to cigarettes via social sources, and this is an important factor in the decision to

take up smoking, and moving from experimentation to addiction (Ma et al., 2003; Katzman et al., 2007). As consumption increases, youth continue to rely on social sources, but often diversify their sources to include commercial sources to maintain a steady supply (Williams et al., 2005; Forster, 2003; Robinson et al., 2006).

Who Is Supplying Cigarettes to Youth and How Are They Accessing Tobacco?

Studies show that it is primarily other adolescents (both older adolescents who meet minimum age requirements and those who purchase illegally) who supply cigarettes to youth thus providing a social source (Wolfson, 1997; Forster, 2003; Pokorny et al., 2006). Youth social suppliers primarily purchase cigarettes from retailers (Wolfson, 1997; Forster, 2003; Pokorny et al., 2006). Therefore, cutting off commercial distribution channels to youth suppliers reduces the overall supply available to youth via social sources, drives up the price, and discourages sharing among peers (DiFranza, 2001; Levinson, 2007).

A Minnesota study by Forster et al. (2003) surveyed over 4124 students aged 13-16 years to understand aspects of social provision and acquisition of cigarettes among respondent who smoked at least one cigarette in the month before the survey. The results showed that almost 90% of students obtained a cigarette from another youth in the past month, and 75% had provided a cigarette to another teen (Forster et al., 2003). Daily smokers were more likely to provide cigarettes to youth who smoked less than daily and had more social sources than lighter smokers. Results also showed that youth who are the recipients of cigarettes via social sources are also most likely to share and provide them, demonstrating reciprocal relationships among teens (Forster et al., 2003). The study found that social exchange is not mutually exclusive from commercial sources, but rather expands the reach of commercial sources to a broader subset of youth (Forster et al., 2003). The study found that the source of most social acquisition are other teenagers rather than adults, and parents were least likely to provide cigarettes to teens (Forster et al., 2003).

Another Minnesota survey showed that commercial sources were important only for 12th grade students, whereas younger students in grades 6 and 9 rely primarily on friends and other

sources (Minnesota Department of Children, Families and Learning, 1999; Minnesota Department of Children Families and Learning, 2001).

Focus groups conducted with youth smokers showed that youth living in jurisdictions with restrictive retail policies were more likely to develop complex systems of obtaining cigarettes involving both friends and strangers who have access to commercial source (Pauls et al., 1998; Rowe et al., 1999).

A qualitative New Zealand study found that as commercial restrictions increase and it becomes more difficult for youth to obtain tobacco, some turn to desperate measures including asking strangers to purchase tobacco for them, picking up butts from the ground and smoking them, and asking random people for cigarettes (Marsh et al., 2013).

Possible Interventions to Reduce Social Sources of Conventional Tobacco

While interventions to address social sources of conventional tobacco remain under-developed and under-studied, experts have suggested the following:

Increase Minimum Age

Interventions to decrease the available retail channels could include increasing the minimum age to cut off social distribution channels to younger youth. One of the arguments against the effectiveness of conventional tobacco age 21 laws is that young smokers in Canada will still have access because they obtain their cigarettes mostly from social sources (Pope et al., 2015; Boak et al., 2018). Experts counter that raising the minimum age may also reduce social sources. A report by the Ontario Tobacco Research Unit argues that increasing the legal age to 21 would make it more difficult for underage smokers to gain access to cigarettes from older youth who would be less likely to remain in the same social networks after high school (Pope, 2015). This is because the small percentage of youth who do purchase cigarettes from stores become the main source of tobacco to their peers (Berman, 2016). By increasing the minimum age to 21, it is argued that those who can legally purchase tobacco would be outside the social circle of most high school students (Berman, 2016). At the same time, if retailers are checking for age 21, it is much less

likely that younger adolescents ages 16-17 would obtain supplies to distribute to their peers (Berman, 2016).

Increase Enforcement/Compliance of Commercial Sources of Tobacco

Cutting off underage youths' access to commercial sources via increased retailer compliance efforts may be another way to drive down social sources of e-cigarettes. While compliance checks on vendors have been shown to reduce sales to minors, their effectiveness has been questioned in the past because youth may obtain cigarettes from other means including social sources (Astor, 2019; Fitchtenberg & Glanz, 2002; DiFranza, 2012; Jones et al., 2002; Etter, 2006). However, as suggested earlier, studies show that adolescents who supply cigarettes to youth primarily purchase cigarettes from retailers (Wolfson, 1997; Forster et al., 2003; Pokorny et al., 2006). By cutting off commercial distribution channels, this reduces the overall supply available to youth via social sources, drives up the price, and discourages sharing among peers (DiFranza, 2001; Levinson, 2007). An effort to increase enforcement in Texas resulted in a decrease in both commercial and social sources of tobacco and ultimately a decrease in smoking among middle-school students (DiFranza, 2002).

Media Campaigns

Kaptein (2017) has argued that it is unclear if media campaigns are effective in reducing social sources of tobacco. In Ontario, one social marketing campaign that sought to address social sources of cigarettes was the *Bad Ways to Be Nice campaign*. This initiative was able to make positive changes in attitudes toward supplying cigarettes to underage youth (Zhang et al., 2015). An evaluation of the campaign showed that young adult participants were receptive to the campaign, and that it either confirmed their thinking or convinced them not to provide cigarettes to teens (Zhang et al., 2015). While the campaign was successful in creating awareness and had a positive impact on behavioural intentions, there is no evidence of the impact on behavioural changes or reducing the social supply to youth (Zhang et al., 2015; Kaptein et al., 2017). In general, future research is needed on the workings of campaigns designed to reduce social sources.

Fines for Supplying Tobacco to Youth

All provinces have fines for retailers who supply cigarettes to underage youth and some provinces fine adults for supplying cigarettes. There is no evidence for the effectiveness of penalties for non retailers (e.g., youth and adult suppliers of social sources) in reducing social sources. For instance, in Quebec, adults are prohibited from purchasing tobacco for minors (Government of Quebec, n.d.). Quebec has clear fines in place for those who violate this law. For adults who purchase tobacco for a minor, the fines can range from \$500-\$1,500, and for repeat offences, fines can go up to \$1,000 to \$3,000.

Quebec also has a \$100 fine for minors who purchase tobacco for themselves, or someone else and for lying about their age to purchase tobacco. Fines for giving tobacco to a minor on school grounds, facilities or buildings range from \$500 to \$1,500, and repeat offences range from \$1,000 to \$3,000 (Government of Quebec, n.d.). There is no evidence to show that these penalties reduce social sources. Rather, they may be counterproductive by undermining more appropriate and effective methods of youth discipline and may divert attention from tobacco control strategies and from the tobacco industry (including retailers) for their responsibility for youth e-cigarette use (Campaign for Tobacco Free Kids, 2020). More effective methods for youth discipline may include school and parent-based repercussions (Wakefield & Giovino, 2003). Importantly, there is a risk that possession laws may also contribute to racial and ethnic disparities if they are enforced inconsistently and might put youth at risk of being introduced to the criminal justice system (Campaign for Tobacco Free Kids, 2020).

Further Research

Further research is needed to understand why adults and youth are providing tobacco to youth, how to cut off this supply to networks of youth (Marsh et al., 2013), and the best way to design future campaigns and interventions on this topic. Experts suggest the following approaches:

Interventions focusing on reducing teen-to-teen exchange: According to Forster et al. (2003), while adults occasionally supply cigarettes for youth, other teens are a much more important source of cigarettes. Therefore, interventions must focus on ways to reduce teen-to-teen exchange (Forster et al., 2003).

Interventions focusing on the social context of social exchange: For youth to exchange cigarettes, they must have a supportive social context including the space and opportunity to do so. To reduce social exchange, Forster et al. (2003) has suggested that interventions should focus on community and family attitudes and reducing overall adult approval for this behaviour in both public and private spaces.

Interventions focused on youth who are heavy smokers: Youth who are daily smokers are much more likely to both supply and receive cigarettes from other teens (Forster et al., 2003). Because daily smokers have more need for cigarettes, they often develop a variety of avenues to acquire cigarettes, which increases the likelihood that they will supply to a network of teens (Forster et al., 2003). Interventions that focus on preventing youth from becoming daily smokers may reduce the social supply to networks (Forster et al., 2003). Similarly, campaigns to convince youth not to supply others with cigarettes may benefit from focusing on daily smokers (Forster et al., 2003).

School-Based Interventions: Another potential intervention may include working with schools/school boards and students to reduce social supply within schools; however, there is no evidence for this type of approach, and it may be difficult to obtain buy in (Kaptein, 2017).

Alcohol Social Sources

- Youth are more likely to access alcohol from adults over the age of 21 than from other teens.
- Interventions to reduce social supply of alcohol to youth include: police
 enforcement of underage drinking at parties, requiring kegs to be registered, and
 social host laws to allow third parties to sue social providers in the case of death or
 injury, and community interventions to provide alcohol free events for youths. Little
 research has been done to evaluate the effects of these strategies.
- Several community wide initiatives have included interventions to reduce social sources of alcohol.

Youth are more likely to access alcohol from adults over the age of 21 rather than from other teens (Wagenaar et al., 1996; Jones-Webb et al., 1997). Younger adolescents are more likely to access alcohol from family and at home; whereas, older adolescents are more likely to access alcohol from friends (Harrison, Fulkerson et al., 2000).

Komro and Toomey (2002) reviewed interventions to reduce social supply of alcohol to youth. Interventions included ordinances to allow police enforcement of underage drinking at parties, requiring beer kegs to be registered so that adult purchasers of kegs can be penalized for supplying to underage drinkers, and social-host laws to allow third parties to sue social providers when the provision of alcohol to youth results in death or injury (Komro & Toomey, 2002). Little research has been done to evaluate the specific effects of these strategies to reduce social access to alcohol (Komro & Toomey, 2002).

Community strategies have also been implemented to reduce both commercial and social supply of alcohol to youth by developing community action plans to reduce youth access including a wide array of programs and policies (Komro & Toomey, 2002). Community level interventions to provide alcohol free events and settings for youth may deter youth from accessing alcohol. In general, community interventions were successful in reducing youth access to alcohol including teens providing to other teens (Komro & Toomey, 2002; Wagenaar et al., 2000), however more research is needed.

Cannabis Social Sources

 Little is known about the importance of social sources in youth access to cannabis, and there is no evidence about interventions to address social sources.

Little is known about social sources of cannabis, however "in person dealers" account for a substantial portion of illegal cannabis sales in Canada (Statistics Canada, 2018; Mahamad et al., 2020; Wadsworth et al., 2019). There is evidence that laws that legalize cannabis use for medical purposes do not increase marijuana use among youth, however the effects of recreational marijuana laws are mixed (Anderson et al., 2019).

Jurisdictional Scan²

Canadian Federal Regulations to Reduce Social Sources

- There are no federal policies in place aimed at reducing social sources of ecigarettes.
- Health Canada's report on potential regulatory measures acknowledges the issues
 of social sources but does not put forward potential solutions.

There are no federal policies currently in place aimed at reducing social sources of e-cigarettes. A recent Health Canada report acknowledges that most young people in Canada are accessing vaping products socially through friends and family and not making purchases themselves. Health Canada's report on potential regulatory measures to reduce youth access and appeal of vaping products acknowledges the issue of social sources but does not bring forward potential regulatory measures to address the issue (Canadian Alcohol Tobacco and Drugs Survey, 2017; Health Canada, 2019). A recent national survey indicated that more than three-quarters of youth aged 15-19 who tried a vaping product borrowed, shared or bought it from a friend or relative; one in ten bought from a vape shape; one in ten bought from a convenience stores; and online sales were too low to report (Health Canada, 2019).

Canadian Provincial Regulations to Reduce Social Sources

- Most provinces and territories have laws in place to restrict provision of e-cigarettes to youth.
- Quebec has graduated fines for both adults and youth who provide e-cigarettes to underage youths.

² There is significant evidence that reducing youth access to tobacco through commercial retailers will ultimately lead to a reduction in social sources by reducing overall social supply and discouraging sharing among peers (DiFranza, 2001; Levinson, 2007). See separate reports on minimum age and compliance/enforcement for further details.

Table 1: Canadian Provincial and Territorial Social Sources Regulations

Province/Territory	Social Sources Regulations
Alberta	Provincial legislation states that no person shall furnish or offer to furnish a tobacco product or vaping product to a minor in a place referred to in section 3 or 3.1 (e.g., in a public or outdoor place, on school property, in a workplace, etc.).
	Legislation also states that no minor shall possess or consume a tobacco product or vaping product or smoke or vape in specified locations (Province of Alberta, 2020).
British Columbia	BC's health and education ministries have implemented additional measures to denormalize youth vaping including a youth advisory council, a vaping prevention toolkit distributed to schools across the province, and a social media campaign to "denormalize" vaping (Yoshida-Butryn, 2020).
Manitoba	Manitoba's regulations state that no person shall supply or offer to supply a vapour product to a child (Manitoba Laws, 2021).
New Brunswick	In New Brunswick no person shall sell or permit to be sold tobacco, smoking supplies or electronic cigarettes to a person under the age of nineteen years.
	No person shall purchase or attempt to purchase tobacco, smoking supplies, or electronic cigarettes on behalf of, or for the purpose of resale to, a person under the age of nineteen years (Government of New Brunswick, n.d.).
Newfoundland and Labrador	It is an offence for a retailer or other person to sell, give or furnish, directly or indirectly, tobacco, vapour products or non-tobacco shisha to a minor (Assembly of Newfoundland and Labrador, 2020).
Northwest Territories	Territorial legislation states that no person shall sell or supply any of the following to a minor a vaping product. "Supply" means to give, buy, or lend or otherwise provide a thing to a person with or without consideration and includes offer to supply. Minors shall not purchase or attempt to purchase any of the following vaping products (Government of Northwest Territories, n.d.)
Nova Scotia	Nova Scotia legislation states that no person shall purchase tobacco or a tobacco product on behalf of, or for the purpose of resale; or give tobacco or a tobacco product, to a person under the age of nineteen years (Government of Nova Scotia, n.d.)
Nunavut	Under the <i>Tobacco Control Act</i> it is illegal to supply (give/trade) tobacco products to anyone under 19 years old (Government of Nunavut, 2020).
Ontario	Under the Smoke Free Ontario Act, no person shall sell or supply tobacco, vaping or prescribed products or substances to a person who is less than 19 years old (Government of Ontario, 2020).
Prince Edward Island	It is illegal to purchase e-cigarette products on behalf of, or for the purpose of selling to, a person under 21 years (Government of Prince Edward Island).
Quebec	Adults are prohibited from purchasing tobacco for minors (Government of Quebec, 2020). Quebec has clear fines in place for those who violate this law. Quebec has fines for minors who purchase tobacco for themselves, or someone else and for lying about their age to purchase tobacco (\$100). For adults who purchase tobacco for a minor the fines can range from \$500-\$1,500, and for repeat offences fines can go up to \$1,000 to \$3,000. Fines for giving tobacco to a minor on the grounds and facilities or buildings used by a school range from \$500 to \$1,500, and repeat offences from \$1,000 to \$3,000 (Government of Quebec, 2020).

Province/Territory	Social Sources Regulations
Saskatchewan	Saskatchewan legislations states that no person shall provide tobacco, a tobacco-related product or a vapour product to a young person. Nothing in this section prevents a legal custodian of a young person from providing tobacco, a tobacco-related product or a vapour product to the young person in a place other than a public place or a place to which the public ordinarily has access (Government of Saskatchewan, 2019).
Yukon	Providing or selling vaping products and tobacco to minors under the age of 19 is illegal (Government of Yukon, 2020).

U.S. Regulations to Reduce Social Sources

No regulations to reduce social sources in the United States were found.

E-Cigarette Social Sources Assessment Criteria

There is no evidence for interventions to reduce social sources for e-cigarettes. There is limited evidence for several interventions to reduce social sources for conventional cigarettes. There is significant evidence that reducing youth access to tobacco through commercial retailers will ultimately lead to a reduction in social sources by reducing overall social supply and discouraging sharing among peers (DiFranza, 2001; Levinson, 2007).

Experts argue that raising the minimum age for e-cigarettes and conventional tobacco to 21 may reduce social sources³. A report by the Ontario Tobacco Research Unit argues that increasing the legal age to 21 would make it more difficult for underage smokers to gain access to cigarettes from older youth who would be less likely to remain in the same social networks after high school (Pope, 2015). This is because the small percentage of youth who do purchase cigarettes from stores become the main source of tobacco to their peers (Berman, 2016). By increasing the minimum age to 21, it is argued that those who can legally purchase tobacco would be outside the social circle of most high school students (Berman, 2016). At the same time, if retailers are checking for age 21, it is much less likely that younger adolescents ages 16-17 would obtain supplies to distribute to their peers (Berman, 2016).

Other potential interventions include media campaigns and fines for youth who supply to peers. Although other interventions have been proposed for reducing social sources of tobacco, there is no evidence to support their effectiveness, and further research is needed.

Campaign to Address Social Sources

Effects

There is limited evidence that media campaigns are effective in both increasing awareness and changing behavioural intentions to share cigarettes among youth (Zhang et al., 2015).

³ See separate reports on minimum age and compliance/enforcement for further details.

Technical Feasibility

Campaigns to address social supply of e-cigarettes are feasible and could build on successful campaigns from conventional tobacco including the *Bad Ways to be Nice* campaign.

Political Viability

There is likely to be strong political support for campaigns to reduce social sources of ecigarettes. A 2019 Angus Reid poll showed that close to two thirds of Canadians perceive that vaping does more harm than good (62%), a substantial increase from polling done in 2018 (Angus Reid, 2020). Eighty-five percent of Canadians are worried about the number of kids that are vaping (Angus Reid, 2020).

Alignment with International Trade Obligations

There are no known obligations that would interfere with a campaign to reduce social sources of e-cigarettes.

Fines for Youth Who Supply to Peers

Effects

There is no evidence that fines for youth who supply e-cigarettes to peers will reduce youth access. Findings from conventional tobacco show that penalties for youth who supply to peers may be counterproductive by undermining more appropriate and effective methods of youth discipline and may divert attention away from retailers and the tobacco industry (Campaign for Tobacco Free Kids, year). Other methods of discipline may be more effective including parent and school-based repercussions (Wakefield & Giovino, 2003). Further, consideration should be given to limitations of youth possession laws, their potential to contribute to racial and ethnic disparities, and the risks of introducing youth to the criminal justice system (Campaign for Tobacco Free Kids, 2020).

Technical Feasibility

Quebec has graduated fines for youth who supply tobacco to peers indicating that this approach is technically feasible.

Political Viability

While Canadians perceive that vaping is harmful and are worried about the number of kids vaping (Angus Reid, 2020), there is no evidence that there would be strong support for measures that penalize youth. As with youth possession laws, it is unlikely that the public health community in Canada would support this approach.

Alignment with the Canadian Regulatory Landscape

There are no known obligations that would interfere with fines for youth who supply to peers.

Discussion

While it is well known that youth are accessing e-cigarettes via social sources, interventions to address this problem are under-developed. Findings from conventional tobacco show that it is very likely that raising the minimum age and increasing compliance and enforcement measures are likely to be effective in reducing the overall social supply of e-cigarettes. Although there is very limited evidence that campaigns to reduce social supply of conventional tobacco can be effective in reducing social supply, this may be a promising approach for reducing e-cigarette social supply. While Quebec sets a precedent for penalizing youth who supply tobacco to peers, there is no evidence that this measure is effective and raises important concerns about equity and introducing youth to the criminal justice system. The effectiveness of this approach warrants further study; however, evidence from tobacco about who is supplying youth with tobacco (older youth, daily smokers) and how they are sourcing tobacco products to supply to peers (generally from tobacco retailers) may inform future innovations about how to address social sources of both conventional cigarettes and e-cigarettes.

References

Anderson DM, Hansen B, Rees DI, Sabia JJ. Association of marijuana laws with teen marijuana use: new estimates from the youth risk behavior surveys. *JAMA Pediatrics* 2019;8;173(9):879-881.

Angus Reid Institute. Vanquishing Vaping? Support for Tougher Regulations Rise as Positive Views of E-Cigarettes Go Up in Smoke; 2020. Available from: https://angusreid.org/vaping-trends-canada.

Astor RL, Urman R, Barrington-Trimis JL, Berhane K, Steinberg J, Cousineau M, Leventhal M, Unger J, Cruz T, Pentz MA, Samet JM, McConnel R. Tobacco retail licensing and youth product use. *Pediatrics 2019;*143(2).

Assembly of Newfoundland and Labrador. Tobacco and Vapour Products Control Act. [Online] [Cited: September 1, 2020].

Baker H, Kowitt S, Meernik C, Heck C, Martin J, Goldstein AO, Ranney L. Youth source of acquisition for e-cigarettes. *Preventive Medicine Reports 2019;*16.

Berman ML. Raising the tobacco sales age to 21: surveying the legal landscape. Public Health Reports 2016;131(2), 378-381.

Boak A, Hamilton, HA, Adlaf EM, Henderson JL, Mann RE. *The mental health and well-being of Ontario students 1991-2017.*Detailed findings from the Ontario Student Drug Use and Health Survey (OSDUHS); 2018. Toronto, ON: CAMH Research Document Series No. 47.

Borland T, Chaiton M, Dubray J, Schwartz R. *Monitoring and Evaluating Ontario's New E-Cigarette Policy Measures: Sale and Supply to Youth*; 2017. Toronto, ON: Ontario Tobacco Research Unit.

Braak D, Cummings MK, Nahhas GJ, Reid JL, Hammond D. How are adolescents getting their vaping products? Findings from the international tobacco control (ITC) youth tobacco and vaping survey, *Addictive Behaviors* 2020;105.

Campaign for Tobacco Free Kids. Youth Purchase, Use, or Possession Laws Are Not Effective Tobacco Prevention; 2020.

Canadian Tobacco Alcohol Drugs Survey. Canadian Tobacco, Alcohol and Drugs Survey (CTADS): Summary of Results for 2017; 2017

Castrucci BC, Gerlach KK, Kaufman NJ, et al. Adolescents' acquisition of cigarettes through noncommercial sources. *Journal of Adolescent Health* 2002;31:322e6.

DiFranza JR, Coleman M. Sources of tobacco for youths in communities with strong enforcement of youth access laws. *Tobacco Control* 2001;*10*(4), 323–328. https://doi.org/10.1136/tc.10.4.323

DiFranza JR, Savageau JA, Rigotti NA, et al. Development of symptoms of tobacco dependence in youths: 30 month follow up data from the DANDY study. *Tobacco Control* 2002;11:228-235.

DiFranza JR. Which interventions against the sale of tobacco to minors can be expected to reduce smoking? *Tobacco Control* 2012;21(4):436–442

Etter JF. Laws prohibiting the sale of tobacco to minors: impact and adverse consequences. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2006;31(1):47–51

Fichtenberg CM, Glantz SA. Youth access interventions do not affect youth smoking. Pediatrics 2002;109(6):1088–1092

Forster J, Chen V, Blaine T, et al. Social exchange of cigarettes by youth. Tobacco Control 2003;12: 148-54.

Glantz SA. Limiting youth access to tobacco: a failed intervention. Journal of Adolescent Health 2002;31:301e2.

Government of New Brunswick. Tobacco and Electronic Cigarette Sales Act (n.d.).

Government of Northwest Territories. Tobacco And Vapour Products Control Act (n.d.).

Government of Nova Scotia. Tobacco Access Act (n.d.).

Government of Nunavut. Tobacco and the Law. [Online] [Cited: September 1, 2020.]

Government of Ontario (2020). Smoke Free Ontario Act.

Government of Prince Edward Island. Vaping Laws (n.d.)

Government of Quebec. Tobacco Control Act. [Online] [Cited: September 1, 2020.].

Government of Saskatchewan (2019). The Tobacco and Vapour Products Control Act.

Government of Yukon. Find out about tobacco and vaping products legislation. [Online] [Cited: September 1, 2020]

Health Canada. *Reducing Youth Access and Appeal of Vaping Products: Consultation on Potential Regulatory Measures;* 2019. Available from: https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/hc-sc/documents/programs/consultation-reducing-youth-access-appeal-vaping-products-potential-regulatory-measures/consultation-reducing-youth-access-appeal-vaping-products-potential-regulatory-measures-eng.pdf.

Health Canada. Notice of Intent – Potential Measures to Reduce the Impact of Vaping Products Advertising on Youth and Non-users of Tobacco Products; 2019. [Online] February 26, 2019. [Cited: September 1, 2020.]

Katzman B, Markowitz S, McGeary KA. An empirical investigation of the social market for cigarettes. *Health Economics* 2007;16:1025-39.

Komro K, Toomey T. Strategies to prevent underage drinking. Alcohol Research & Health 2002;26(1), 5-14.

Jones-Webb R, Toomey T, et al. Why and in what context adolescents obtain alcohol from adults: a pilot study. *Substance Use & Misuse* 1997;32(2), 219–228

Jones S, Sharp D, Husten C, et al. Cigarette acquisition and proof of age among US high school students who smoke. *Tobacco Control* 2002;11:20e5.

Kaptein S, Karagheusian K, Deming M, Doncaster H, Brown K. *Tobacco enforcement strategies that affect youth access to tobacco: A rapid review;* 2017.

Kong G, Morean ME, Cavallo DA, Camenga DR, Krishnan-Sarin S. Sources of electronic cigarette acquisition among adolescents in Connecticut. *Tobacco Regulatory Science* 2017;3(1), pp. 10-16.

Levinson AH, Campo S, Gascoigne J, Jolly O, Zakharyan A, Tran ZV. Smoking, but not smokers: identity among college students who smoke cigarettes. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research* 2007;9(8).

Ling PM, Landman A, Glantz SA. It is time to abandon youth access tobacco programmes. Tobacco Control 2002;11:3e6.

Ma GFX, Shive S, Legos P, Tan Y. Ethnic differences in adolescent smoking behaviors, sources of tobacco, knowledge and attitudes toward restriction policies. *Addictive Behaviors* 2003;28(2):249-68

Mahamad S, Wadsworth E, Rynard V, Goodman S, Hammond D. Availability, retail price and potency of legal and illegal cannabis in Canada after recreational cannabis legalisation. *Drug and Alcohol Review 2020;39*(4), 337–346.

Manitoba Laws (2021). The Smoking and Vapour Products Control Act.

Marsh L, Dawson A, McGee R. "When you're desperate you'll ask anybody": young people's social sources of tobacco. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health 2013*;37(2):155-61.

McKeganey N, Russell C, Katsampouris E, Haseen F. Sources of youth access to JUUL vaping products in the United States, *Addictive Behaviors Reports 2019;*10, 100232, ISSN 2352-8532, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abrep.2019.100232.

Meyers MJ, Delucchi K, Halpern-Felsher B. Access to tobacco among California high school students: the role of family members, peers, and retail venues. *Journal of Adolescent Health 2017*;61(3) pp. 385-388.

Minnesota Department of Children, Families and Learning. (1999). *Minnesota Student Survey: Perspectives on Youth*. Minnesota Department of Children, Families and Learning.

Minnesota Student Survey/key trends through 2001. 2001 Minnesota Student Survey Results.

Pauls D, Rowe M, Alesci N, et al. Teens talking tobacco: response to tobacco control policies, a focus group study; 1998. Poster presented at the 126th Annual Meeting of the American Public Health Association, Washington, DC.

Pepper JK, Coats EM, Nonnemaker JM, Loomis BR. How do adolescents get their e-cigarettes and other electronic vaping devices? *American Journal of Health Promotion 2019*;33(3), pp. 420-429.

Pokorny S, Jason L, Schoeny M. Youth supplying tobacco to other minors: evaluating individual and tow-level correlates. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence* 2006;35:705e15.

Pope M, Chaiton M, Schwartz R. *OTRU Update: Raising the Minimum Age for Access to Tobacco to 21;* 2015. Ontario Tobacco Research Unit.

Province of Alberta. (2020). Tobacco and Smoking Reduction Amendment Act, 2020.

Public Health Ontario. Ontario Tobacco Monitoring Report, 2018. Technical Supplement to Chapter 6: Electronic Cigarettes.

Robinson LA, Dalton WT 3rd, Nicholson LM. Changes in adolescents' sources of cigarettes. *Journal of Adolescent Health* 2006;39(6):861-7.

Rowe M, Pauls D, Blaine T. Youth social access to and provision of tobacco: a new course for community interventions; 1999. Presented at the 1999 Mid-year meeting Society for Public Health Education, Minneapolis, Minnesota.

Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit. Bad Ways to Be Nice [Internet]; 2013. Barrie, ON: Simcoe Muskoka District Health Unit. [cited 2016 Dec 3].

Statistics Canada. (2018). National Cannabis Survey, second quarter 2018 [Internet]. Vol. 2018, The Daily, 2018. Available from: https://www150. statcan.gc.ca/n1/daily-quotidien/190815/dq190815a-eng.html

Wadsworth E, Driezen P, Goodman S, Hammond D. Differences in self-reported cannabis prices across purchase source and quantity purchased among Canadians. *Addiction Research & Theory 2019;* 1–10. https://doi. org/10.1080/16066359.2019.1689961.

Wagenaar AC, Toomey TL, et al. Sources of alcohol for underage drinkers. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol 1996;*57 (3), 325–333.

Wagenaar AC, Murray DM, Gehan JP, et al. Communities mobilizing for change on alcohol: Outcomes from a randomized community trial. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol 2000*;61(1):85–94.

Wakefield M, Giovino G. Teen penalties for tobacco possession, use, and purchase: evidence and issues. *Tobacco Control* 2003;12:i6-i13.

Williams SS, Mulhall PF. Where public school students in Illinois get cigarettes and alcohol: characteristics of minors who use different sources. *Prevention Science* 2005;6(1):47-57.

E-Cigarette Social Sources: Theory, Evidence and Regulatory Policy

Wolfson M, Forster JL, Claxton AJ, et al. Adolescent smokers' provision of tobacco to other adolescents. *American Journal of Public Health* 1997;87:649e51.

Yoshida-Butryn C. Tough new regulations to curb youth vaping now in effect in B.C. CTV News. (2020).

Zhang B, Diemert L, Fox J, Baker-Barill D, Uprichard J, Zeoli S, Karapetyan T, O'Connor S. *Bad Ways to Be Nice Campaign: Evaluation Survey Results;* 2015. Ontario Tobacco Research Unit, University of Toronto.